
AGENDA 

Vista Field Association Meeting 
Port of Kennewick Commission Chambers 

350 Clover Island Drive, Suite 200, Kennewick, Washington 99336 

Thursday, November 2, 2023 
10:00 a.m. 

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

III. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

IV. NEW BUSINESS
a. Election of Officers
b. Adoption of By-laws
c. Adoption of 2024 Budget
d. Approval of 2024 Projected Assessments
e. Approval of Frequently asked Questions
F. Future Meeting – November 7, 2024

V. PUBLIC COMMENT (Please state your name and address for the public record)

VI. ADJOURNMENT

PLEASE SILENCE ALL NOISE MAKING DEVICES 

In an effort to continue to provide public access to meetings, Port of Kennewick will provide telephonic, 
 video access, and in-person participation to the public. 

To participate by telephone, please call in at: 1-866-899-4679, Access Code: 937-991-461 
Or, join on-line at the following link: https://meet.goto.com/937991461 

https://meet.goto.com/937991461


Election of 2024 Officers 

I move for the approval of the following slate of officers for the Vista Field Association for 2024, 
effective November 2, 2023 through December 31, 2024:  

President:  ________________________________ 

Vice President: ____________________________  

Secretary: ________________________________ 

Treasurer: ________________________________ 

  



Introduction to Governing Documents 

Relating to  
The Vista Field Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions 

and to  
The Vista Field Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions 

for Commercial Property  

THE PORT OF KENNEWICK (the “Port”) executes this Introduction to Governing Documents for 
Vista Field on the _________ day of ____________, year of _________ . 

HISTORY AND DESIGN 

History of the Site. The Vista Field Airport, which began operations in the 1940s, was an auxiliary 
field for training naval aviators located at the nearby Naval Air Station Pasco during World War II. 
In the decades after, it served as a public use airport. In 1991, the Port purchased the airport and 
surrounding lands from the City of Kennewick and took over its management.  

Faced with declining use of the airfield, the Port in 2012 opened public discussion of the airport’s 
future, including concepts for redevelopment as a mixed-use community led by the design firm, 
Duany Plater-Zyberk & Company (DPZ). After substantial stakeholder input over a six-month 
period, the Port Commission unanimously decided in 2013 that closure and redevelopment of the 
Vista Field Airport was in the community’s best interest.  

Vision. The 103-acre site is located in the City of Kennewick at the geographic and commercial 
heart of the Tri-Cities, Washington, next to the region’s sports and convention venues. It is 
envisioned to have active areas used day and evening for living, working, recreating and 
entertaining. While subject to change, these uses may include: 

• Public and quasi-public open spaces, ranging from small pocket parks to a large central
plaza for recreation and entertainment.

1 Vista Field Introduction to Governing Documents  11.02.2023



• Nearly 1,100 residential units, including single family homes, condominium and
apartments.

• Approximately 750,000 square feet of retail, office, service and entertainment, most of it in
Vista Field’s Town Center.

The City crafted the Urban Mixed Use (UMU) zoning district and adjusted other land use 
regulations to allow mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly development as envisioned in the 2017 City 
and Port-adopted Vista Field Master Plan (the “Master Plan”).  

Master Plan. The Master Plan lays out the overall design and development concept for Vista Field. 
It is subject to change and refinement during development and is not guaranteed. A legal 
description of the 103 acres of land, known as the Master Plan Area, is attached as Exhibit A to this 
Introduction. The Master Plan Area may be modified as provided in the Vista Field Declaration 
described below. 

Due to its history as an airfield, the site is long and relatively narrow. The Master Plan currently 
shows a main street and a parallel, secondary pedestrian-oriented street running the length of the 
site. These two very different streets weave around one another, with utility alleys running parallel 
to both. The proposed Town Center is at the physical center of the plan.  

Projects designed by DPZ interweave residential and commercial uses in a compact form, unlike 
more typical mixed-use projects that separate homes from businesses. Uses may be mixed within 
a single building, sometimes known as live/work units, that may have an office or shop at street 
level and living space above. This tight interconnection between uses directly influences the form 
of governance of Vista Field. 

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 
Two Governing Documents. The governance structure was developed after thorough examination 
of the master plan for Vista Field, experience with other DPZ-designed projects, discussions with 
Port and DPZ staff, and review of applicable Washington law, and resulted in the preparation of 
two governing documents: 

1. The Vista Field Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (the “Vista Field
Declaration”), which establishes the common interest community to be known as Vista
Field and applies to all property within Vista Field (with each individually owned piece of
land known as a “Parcel”), and

2. The Vista Field Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Commercial
Property (the “Commercial Declaration”), which applies only to commercial Parcels and
the commercial portions of mixed-use Parcels within Vista Field.

The Vista Field Declaration and the Commercial Declaration (together, the “Declarations”) are 
recorded immediately following this Introduction. Both concern the development of the Master 
Plan Area and its long-term operation as a vibrant mixed-use area in the City.  

Independent Operation. Even though the Vista Field Declaration affects the entire common 
interest community, and the Commercial Declaration applies only to its commercial and mixed-
use properties, the Vista Field Declaration is not a master declaration as that term is generally 

2 Vista Field Introduction to Governing Documents  11.02.2023



used.  The two Declarations and the associations they create have separate purposes and are 
intended to operate independently. 

VISTA FIELD DECLARATION 
Purpose. The Vista Field Declaration provides for the establishment of a property owners’ 
association (the “Vista Field Association”) to manage and maintain those parts of Vista Field that 
are used by the entire community. Known as Common Elements, these are owned, managed and/or 
controlled by the Vista Field Association and include certain streets, open space, water features and 
other facilities and grounds.  Some streets will be dedicated to the public and are not part of the 
Common Elements. Limited Common Elements are owned, managed and/or controlled by the 
Association but serve only certain Parcels that have the right to use such Limited Common Elements, 
such as an alley.  

Phasing. With the recording of the Vista Field Declaration and submission of the first phase, Vista 
Field is officially created as a common interest community. Additional land may be added in phases. 
The Port, known in the documents as the “Founder,” may, but is not required to, add any part of 
the Master Plan Area, in any order. Once land is added to the Vista Field Declaration, it is subject 
to its terms, including the requirement to pay assessments.   

As each phase is created, a supplemental declaration will be recorded, making the additional 
property part of the Vista Field community that is subject to the Vista Field Declaration.  

No portion of the Master Plan Area shall be part of Vista Field or subject to the Vista Field 
Declaration or the Commercial Declaration until added as a phase by a supplemental declaration. 

Washington Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act. The Vista Field Declaration is written to 
comply with the Washington Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (as amended, the “Act”). 
The Act, which was enacted in 2018, applies to common interest communities that include 
residential property. In the event of any conflict between the Vista Field Declaration and the Act, 
the Act shall govern and control.  

Vista Field Association Membership. Members of the Vista Field Association include all Parcel 
owners within Vista Field, both residential and commercial. The Declaration allows the Founder to 
retain control of the Association for the longest period permitted under the Act.  

Allocated Interests. The Declaration states a formula to assign to each Parcel an Allocated Interest 
as required by the Act. The Allocated Interest for a Parcel determines both its share of the 
assessments and its voting rights. Most residential Parcels are assigned the same assessment per 
dwelling unit. However, dwelling units of smaller than 1000 square feet and units in apartment 
buildings pay slightly less.  Allocated Interests for commercial space is based on square footage. 
Parcels that include both residential and commercial space combine the formulas to determine the 
Parcel’s Allocated Interest. 

Maintenance Zones. Maintenance Zones are smaller areas within Vista Field that share Limited 
Common Elements or that require other specialized shared maintenance, such as a landscaped 
courtyard that is part of a bungalow court.  They are a flexible tool to tailor services and cost 
allocation to particular areas within the community as they are developed. The Maintenance Zone 
concept allows the Association to provide this additional maintenance and bill the cost to the 
benefited owners.  

 

3 Vista Field Introduction to Governing Documents  11.02.2023



Design Review. All new construction and modification of existing buildings are subject to design 
review. Design review is reserved to the Founder during the entire Development Period, defined in 
the Declaration as six months after the Founder neither owns a total of at least one acre of land in 
the Master Plan Area nor holds any Parcels for sale in the normal course of business, but no later 
than 75 years. A Town Architect will work with applicants and their architects and to review plans. 
At the end of the Development Period, the review rights for residential property is automatically 
assigned to the Association, while review rights for commercial and the commercial portion of 
mixed-use Parcels is assigned to the Commercial Association described below.  

Effect of Declaration on Commercial Property. Like residential owners, commercial property owners 
pay assessments for the maintenance of Common Elements that serve the entire community. 
However, the Vista Field Association is not responsible for maintaining primarily commercial space 
or regulating businesses. Instead, the Commercial Declaration, a separate document summarized 
below, governs the operation of commercial property and the commercial portions of mixed-use 
property wherever located in Vista Field. 

COMMERCIAL DECLARATION 
Purpose. The Commercial Declaration provides for the establishment of a Commercial Association, 
which has three primary purposes: 

• Maintenance: The Commercial Association will be responsible for maintenance of the
commercial common areas, such as plazas, landscaping and street furniture.

• Management: The Commercial Association will oversee and regulate businesses’ use of
shared space, and may regulate some aspects of business operation, such as hours of
operation. It may also participate in such services as shared parking arrangements, sanitation
and security.

• Promotion: The Commercial Association’s Marketing Director may promote Vista Field for
the mutual benefit of all businesses, including advertising, special event programming,
seasonal decoration and other promotional activities.

Application only to Commercial Property.  The Commercial Declaration applies to all commercial 
property anywhere within Vista Field, plus the commercial portion of mixed-use buildings. Any 
residential Parcel and any residential portions of mixed-use Parcels within Vista Field will be 
automatically excluded. If the use of the Parcel is later changed to commercial, it becomes subject 
to the Commercial Declaration as uses change. The reverse is also true; commercial property or any 
portion of a Parcel that is converted to residential use will no longer be subject to the Commercial 
Declaration.  

Commercial Association. All commercial property owners within Vista Field will be members of the 
Commercial Association and pay assessments based on Assigned Value. As provided in the 
Commercial Declaration, Assigned Value is based on the appraised value of a commercial Parcel or 
the commercial portion of a mixed-use property as determined by the Benton County Tax Assessor. 

The Commercial Declaration is not subject to the Washington Uniform Common Interest Ownership 
Act. The documents allow the Founder to choose how long it operates and controls the Commercial 
Association. 

  

4 Vista Field Introduction to Governing Documents  11.02.2023



Implementation and Phasing. The Commercial Declaration is recorded at the same time as the Vista 
Field Declaration and becomes effective at the same time. As phases are added to the Vista Field 
Declaration, commercial Parcels and the commercial portions of mixed-use Parcels within the 
additional property will automatically become subject to the Commercial Declaration.  

This document is a summary. Further information about specific terms is contained in the 
Declarations. In the event of a conflict between this Introduction and the Declarations, the 
Declarations shall govern and control. 

The Port has executed this summary of the Vista Field Declaration and Commercial Declaration and 
caused it to be recorded in the public records. 

WITNESSES: 

____________________________ 

PORT OF KENNEWICK 

By:__________________________ 

__________________ its _____ CEO 

____________________________ 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

STATE OF ______________ ) 

) ss. 

COUNTY OF ____________ ) 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that ____________________________ is the person who 
appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that he signed this instrument, on oath stated that he was 
authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as ____________________________  of PORT OF 
KENNEWICK, to be the free and voluntary act of such parties for the uses and purposes mentioned in this instrument. 

DATED:  ___________________. 

_____________________________________________________ 

(Signature of Notary) 

_____________________________________________________ 

(Legibly Print or Stamp Name of Notary) 

Notary public in and for 

the state of:__________________________________________ 

Residing at: __________________________________________ 

My appointment expires: ______________________________

5 Vista Field Introduction to Governing Documents  11.02.2023



Exhibit A: Legal Description, The Master Plan Area 

The Master Plan Area comprises the seven parcels described below and totals 102.38 acres, 
more or less. The diagram following the legal description shows the approximate shape and 
location of the seven parcels. The diagram is not a survey and is provided for information 
purposes.  

PARCEL 1: 
THAT PORTION OF “NEW PARCEL A” AND “NEW PARCEL B” AS SHOWN ON RECORD 
SURVEY 4155, ACCORDING TO THE SURVEY THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF 
SURVEYS, PAGE 4155, RECORDS OF BENTON COUNTY, WASHINGTON, AND THAT 
PORTION OF TRACT “B” OF RECORD SURVEY 2339, ACCORDING TO THE SURVEY THEREOF 
RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF SURVEYS, PAGE 2339, RECORDS OF BENTON COUNTY, 
WASHINGTON, SITUATE IN SECTION 32 TOWNSHIP 9 NORTH, RANGE 29 EAST, 
WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, CITY OF KENNEWICK, BENTON COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHERLY MOST CORNER OF SAID TRACT “B” OF RECORD SURVEY 
2339; THENCE NORTH 45°58'32" WEST  306.97 FEET ALONG THE SOUTHWESTERLY 
BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL B” TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE 
CONCAVE TO THE NORTHWEST HAVING A RADIUS OF 1031.00 FEET, THENCE 
NORTHEASTERLY 513.87 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE AND ALONG THE 
SOUTHEASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY MARGIN OF GRANDRIDGE BOULEVARD THROUGH A 
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 28°33'26" (THE LONG CHORD OF SAID CURVE BEARS NORTH 
29°53'16" EAST 508.57 FEET); THENCE SOUTH 78°13'15" EAST  254.00 FEET ALONG THE 
NORTHERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL B”; THENCE SOUTH 01°49'13" EAST  
263.75 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 45°52'22" EAST  873.13 FEET TO THE SOUTHEASTERLY 
BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL A”; THENCE SOUTH 44°07'38" WEST  181.40 FEET 
ALONG THE SOUTHEASTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL A”; THENCE SOUTH 
44°07'38" WEST  262.72 FEET ALONG THE SOUTHEASTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW 
PARCEL A”; THENCE SOUTH 46°00'33" EAST  55.98 FEET ALONG THE SOUTHEASTERLY 
BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL A”; THENCE SOUTH 44°04'22" WEST  494.67 FEET 
ALONG THE SOUTHEASTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL A”; THENCE NORTH 
46°00'02" WEST  139.19 FEET ALONG THE SOUTHEASTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW 
PARCEL A”; THENCE NORTH 45°20'32" WEST  345.15 FEET; THENCE NORTH 44°03'14" EAST  
237.11 FEET TO THE BEGINNING OF A CURVE, CONCAVE TO THE NORTHWEST, HAVING A 
RADIUS OF 15.00 FEET; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY 12.75 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF SAID 
CURVE THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 48°42'16" TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-
TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHWEST HAVING A RADIUS OF 100.33 FEET; 
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY 20.00 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE THROUGH A 
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°25'26" (THE LONG CHORD OF SAID CURVE BEARS NORTH 
87°41'46" WEST 19.97 FEET); THENCE NORTH 08°59'09" EAST  49.28 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 

6 Vista Field Introduction to Governing Documents  11.02.2023



81°00'51" EAST  20.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 09°49'27" EAST  50.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 
82°56'05" WEST  100.12 FEET; THENCE NORTH 09°49'27" EAST  67.81 FEET; THENCE 
NORTH 44°01'28” EAST 41.18 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°58'32" WEST  238.57 FEET TO THE 
NORTHWESTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID TRACT “B”; THENCE NORTH 44°05'10" EAST  126.27 
FEET ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID “TRACT B” TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 
CONTAINS 20.06 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
PPARCEL 2: 
THAT PORTION OF “NEW PARCEL A” AND “NEW PARCEL B” OF RECORD SURVEY 4155, 
ACCORDING TO THE SURVEY THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF SURVEYS, PAGE 4155, 
RECORDS OF BENTON COUNTY, WASHINGTON, SITUATE IN SECTION 32 TOWNSHIP 9 
NORTH, RANGE 29 EAST, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, CITY OF KENNEWICK, BENTON 
COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHERLY MOST CORNER OF LOT 2, SHORT PLAT 3336, ACCORDING 
TO THE SURVEY THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF SHORT PLATS, PAGE 3336, 
RECORDS OF BENTON COUNTY; THENCE THE FOLLOWING SEVENTEEN COURSES ALONG 
THE BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL A”; THENCE NORTH 44°05'28" EAST 813.10 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 44°07'01" EAST 140.72 FEET; THENCE NORTH 44°02'52" EAST 201.35 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 44°06'30" EAST 187.72 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 45°56'15" EAST 699.87 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 44°05'43" WEST 250.87 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 44°04'53" WEST 609.48 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 44°03'31" WEST 399.94 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 44°00'44" WEST 99.99 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 44°05'20" WEST 217.89 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 44°09'54" WEST 
134.60 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 44°03'28" WEST 220.33 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 44°06'27" 
WEST 109.73 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 45°56'46" EAST 199.99 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 43°42'32" 
WEST 30.22 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°54'01" WEST 255.68 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 44°07'38" 
WEST 225.88 FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°52'22" WEST 873.13 FEET; THENCE NORTH 
01°49'13" WEST 263.75 FEET TO THE NORTHEASTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL 
B”; THENCE SOUTH 78°13'15" EAST 496.55 FEET ALONG SAID NORTHEASTERLY 
BOUNDARY; THENCE NORTH 43°54'07" EAST 506.05 FEET ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY 
BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL A” TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
CONTAINS 39.41 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
PARCEL 3: 
THAT PORTION OF “NEW PARCEL A” OF RECORD SURVEY 4155, ACCORDING TO THE 
SURVEY THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF SURVEYS, PAGE 4155, RECORDS OF 
BENTON COUNTY, WASHINGTON, AND THAT PORTION OF “TRACT B” OF RECORD 
SURVEY 2339, ACCORDING TO THE SURVEY THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 OF 
SURVEYS, PAGE 2339, RECORDS OF BENTON COUNTY, SITUATE IN SECTION 32 TOWNSHIP 
9 NORTH, RANGE 29 EAST WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, CITY OF KENNEWICK, BENTON 
COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHERLY MOST CORNER OF SAID “NEW PARCEL A”; THENCE THE 
FOLLOWING SEVEN COURSES ALONG THE BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL A”: 

7 Vista Field Introduction to Governing Documents  11.02.2023



THENCE NORTH 45°57'21" WEST 700.23 FEET; THENCE NORTH 44°06'32” EAST 279.98 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 44°03'59” EAST 235.14 FEET; THENCE NORTH 44°06'09” EAST 185.21 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 45°54'03" WEST 508.18 FEET; THENCE NORTH 44°04'39" EAST 60.00 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 45°52'57" EAST 306.85 FEET TO THE WESTERLY MOST CORNER OF 
SAID “TRACT B”; THENCE NORTH 44°05'06" EAST 670.87 FEET ALONG THE 
NORTHWESTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID “TRACT B”; THENCE SOUTH 45°58'32" EAST 238.57 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 44°01'28" WEST 41.18 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 09°49'27" WEST 67.81 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 82°56'05" EAST 100.12 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 09°49'27" WEST 50.00 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 81°00'51" WEST 20.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 08°59'09" WEST 49.28 
FEET; TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTHWEST 
HAVING A RADIUS OF 100.33 FEET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY 20.00 FEET ALONG THE ARC 
OF SAID CURVE THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 11°25'26" (THE LONG CHORD OF SAID 
CURVE BEARS SOUTH 87°41'46" EAST 19.97 FEET) TO THE BEGINNING OF A NON-
TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE TO THE NORTHWEST HAVING A RADIUS OF 15.00 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY 12.75 FEET ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE THROUGH A 
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 48°42'16" (THE LONG CHORD OF SAID CURVE BEARS 
SOUTH 19°42'06" WEST 12.37 FEET); THENCE SOUTH 44°03'14" WEST 237.11 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH 45°20'32" EAST 345.15 FEET TO THE SOUTHEASTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW 
PARCEL A”; THENCE SOUTH 44°05'31" WEST 323.35 FEET ALONG THE SOUTHEASTERLY 
BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL A”; THENCE SOUTH 46°00'03" EAST 139.20 FEET 
ALONG THE SOUTHEASTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID “NEW PARCEL A”; THENCE 
SOUTH 44°04'04" WEST 739.15 FEET ALONG THE SOUTHEASTERLY BOUNDARY OF SAID 
“NEW PARCEL A” TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
SUBJECT TO PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT OF WAY DEDICATED BY DEED RECORDED UNDER 
AUDITOR'S FILE NUMBER 2021-048860, RECORDS OF BENTON COUNTY, WASHINGTON. 
CONTAINS 21.11 ACRES (NET), MORE OR LESS. 
PPARCEL 4: 
LOT 2, SHORT PLAT 1333, ACCORDING TO THE SURVEY THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 
OF SHORT PLATS, PAGE 1333, RECORDS OF BENTON COUNTY, WASHINGTON. 
CONTAINS 5.58 ACRES, MORE OR LESS 
PARCEL 5: 
LOT 2, SHORT PLAT 3336, ACCORDING TO THE SURVEY THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 
OF SHORT PLATS, PAGE 3336, RECORDS OF BENTON COUNTY, WASHINGTON. 
CONTAINS 3.50 ACRES, MORE OR LESS 
PARCEL 6: 
LOT 3, SHORT PLAT 3336, ACCORDING TO THE SURVEY THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 1 
OF SHORT PLATS, PAGE 3336, RECORDS OF BENTON COUNTY, WASHINGTON. 
CONTAINS 2.85 ACRES, MORE OR LESS 
PARCEL 7: 
THAT PORTION OF PARCEL 7 OF RECORD SURVEY 1-522 DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  
COMMENCING AT THE MONUMENTED INTERSECTION OF THE CITY STREETS KNOWN AS 
YOUNG STREET AND WEST DESCHUTES AVENUE, SAID POINT BEING THE SOUTHWEST 

8 Vista Field Introduction to Governing Documents  11.02.2023



CORNER OF SAID PARCEL 7, THENCE SOUTH 89°16'47” EAST 30 FEET THENCE NORTH 
00°28'48” EAST 40 FEET TO THE INTERSECTION OF THE EASTERLY AND NORTHERLY 
RIGHTS OF WAY OF SAID STREETS RESPECTIVELY, AND THE  TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING: 
THENCE CONTINUING NORTH 00°28'48” EAST ALONG SAID EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY 
347.50 FEET, THENCE NORTH 45°11' 04” EAST 690.98 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EASTERLY 
BOUNDARY OF SAID PARCEL 7, THENCE SOUTH 44°48'56”EAST ALONG SAID EASTERLY 
BOUNDARY 600 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY DESCHUTES 
AVENUE, SAID POINT IS NORTH 44°48'56” WEST 40 FEET FROM THE SOUTHEAST CORNER 
OF SAID PARCEL 7, THENCE SOUTH 45°11' 04” WEST ALONG SAID NORTHERLY RIGHT OF 
WAY 250 FEET, THENCE NORTH 44°48'56” WEST 100 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 45°11'04” 
WEST 393.74 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY, SAID POINT BEING 
ON A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, THE RADIUS POINT OF WHICH BEARS NORTH 15°29'00” WEST 
780 FEET, THENCE WESTERLY ALONG SAID CURVE AND SAID NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY 
220.59 FEET, THENCE NORTH 89°16'47” WEST ALONG SAID NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY 
170.82 FEET TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING 
CONTAINS 9.87 ACRES, MORE OR LESS 

9 Vista Field Introduction to Governing Documents  11.02.2023



BY-LAWS 
for 

VISTA FIELD ASSOCIATION, 
a Washington Nonprofit Corporation 

Introduction 

The Vista Field Association (the “Association”) is organized as a nonprofit corporation under 
Chapter 24.03, RCW (the “Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act”). These Bylaws were written 
to comply with the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act and Chapter 64.90, RCW, and the 
Washington Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (the “Act”) at the time the Association was 
formed. However, those laws may change, and the Association is required to comply with changes 
to the laws, which by their terms do not require adoption by the Board or the Owners, as 
applicable. In case of any conflict between Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act and the Act, 
the Act controls. 

These Bylaws provide for operation of the plat community known as Vista Field (the “Common 
Interest Community”), which is established by the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and 
Restrictions for Vista Field (the “Vista Field Declaration”), as recorded in the public records of 
Benton County, Washington, and created under the Act. They apply to the entire Common Interest 
Community, each Parcel therein, and all Common Elements.  

The Articles of Incorporation forming the Association and these Bylaws are not required to be 
recorded.  

Unless otherwise defined in these Bylaws, all capitalized terms are as defined in the Vista Field 
Declaration. 

I. Membership

1.1  Members. As provided in Section 2.2 of the Vista Field Declaration, membership is 
comprised of each of the Owners of a Parcel within the Common Interest Community. An 
individual, domestic or foreign profit or nonprofit corporation, a general or limited partnership, 
an association or other entity may be a member of the Association. 

1.2 One Class of Membership. There is one class of membership, comprised of each of the 
Owners of the Parcels within the Common Interest Community. 

1.3 Transfer of Membership with Parcel. Upon the sale, transfer or other disposition of 
the ownership interest in a Parcel, the owner’s membership in the Association shall automatically 
be transferred to the new Parcel owner. The Founder may assign its rights created under these 
Bylaws in whole or in part at any time as provided in the Vista Field Declaration and in accordance 
with the Act. 

II. Voting, Notices and Membership Meetings

2.1 Voting by Multiple Owners. If only one of the multiple Owners of a Parcel is present 
at a meeting of the Association, the Owner is entitled to cast all the votes allocated to that Parcel. 
If more than one of the multiple Owners are present, the votes allocated to that Parcel may be cast 
only in accordance with the agreement of a majority in interest of the multiple Owners. There is 

1 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



majority agreement if any one of the multiple Owners casts the votes allocated to that Parcel 
without protest being made promptly to the person presiding over the meeting by any of the other 
Owners of the Parcel. 

2.2 Voting Representative. Corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, and 
other entities and organizations shall notify the Association in writing of the natural person who 
shall exercise its vote. An Owner may, by written notice to the Board, designate a voting 
representative for its Parcel. The voting representative need not be an Owner. The designation 
may be revoked at any time by written notice to the Board from a person having an ownership 
interest in the Parcel, or by actual notice to the Board of the death or judicially declared 
incompetence of any person with an ownership interest in the Parcel. This power of designation 
and revocation may be exercised by the guardian of an Owner, the attorney-in-fact of the Owner 
under a durable power of attorney, or the administrators or executors of an Owner’s estate. If no 
designation has been made, or if a designation has been revoked and no new designation has been 
made, the voting representative of the Parcel shall be the group composed of all of its Owners. If 
a Unit is owned by husband and wife and only one of them is at a meeting, the one who is present 
will represent the marital community. 

2.3 Allocated Interests. Section 2.2 of the Vista Field Declaration assigns each Parcel an 
Allocated Interest. Each Owner shall have a vote in the Association, with votes to be equal to its 
Allocated Interest(s) in all owned Parcel(s). 

2.4 Voting Procedures. It is the intent of these Bylaws to permit electronic voting and other 
secure, convenient forms of voting to the greatest extent permitted by law. This section 
incorporates the provisions of the Act and shall be considered automatically updated to conform 
to the provisions of the Act as the Act may be amended from time to time.  

(a) Types of Acceptable Voting. A member may vote in person, by absentee ballot, by
proxy in the form of a record executed by the member or a duly authorized attorney-in-
fact, or by any other method permitted by the Act as designated by the Board from time
to time. The use of proxies shall be subject to the terms and requirements of the Act.

(b) Identification of Candidates and Proposals. Whenever proposals or directors or
officers are to be elected by members, the vote may be taken by mail or by electronic
transmission or by any other method permitted by the Act as designated by the Board
from time to time if the name of each candidate and the text of each proposal to be
voted upon are set forth in a record accompanying or contained in the notice of
meeting.

(c) Requirements for Electronic Voting. If the election is conducted by electronic
transmission, the Association shall provide such notices and follow such procedures
and processes as are required by the Act.

2.5 Annual Meeting. The Association shall hold an annual meeting of its membership 
within Vista Field or at another appropriate and convenient place in the state of Washington. The 
Board of Directors shall determine the place and time of the annual meeting. At the annual 
meeting, the Owners shall elect members to the Board or fill vacancies (as appropriate, per the 
term limits of the Board as set forth below), and transact other business of the Association.  

2.6 Budget Meeting. Within 30 days after adoption of any proposed budget for the 
Association, the Board shall provide a summary of the budget all of the members and set a date 
for a meeting of the members to consider ratification of the budget, which date shall be not less 

2 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



than 14 nor more than 50 days after mailing the summary. Unless at the meeting members 
holding a majority of the votes in the Association vote to reject the budget, the budget is ratified, 
whether or not a quorum is present for the meeting. In the event the proposed budget is rejected 
or the required notice for the meeting is not given, the budget last ratified by the Owners shall be 
continued until a budget proposed by the Board is ratified. 

2.7 Special Meetings. Unless specifically provided otherwise in these Bylaws or in the Vista 
Field Declaration, meetings of the membership other than the annual meeting shall be held when 
directed by the President or the Board of Directors or when requested in writing by members 
holding ten percent (10%) of the votes having the right to vote at such meeting.  

2.8 Notice. Notice of all members’ meetings, regular or special, shall be provided in 
accordance with the Act. 

2.9 Waiver. To the extent permitted by the Act and the Washington Nonprofit Corporation 
Act, any Owner may waive notice of a meeting or consent to the holding of a meeting without 
notice or consent to action taken without a meeting, by execution of a waiver or consent in writing. 
Such waiver or consent may be executed prior to, at, or subsequent to the meeting or Association 
action to which the waiver or consent relates. 

2.10 Percentage Required for Quorum. A quorum shall be 20% of the Allocated Interests. 

2.11 Order of Business. The order of business at meetings of the Association shall be as 
follows unless dispensed with on motion or as otherwise required by the Act: 

(a) Roll call
(b) Proof of notice of meeting or waiver of notice
(c) Minutes of preceding meeting
(d) Reports of officers
(e) Reports of committees
(f) Election of inspectors of election
(g) Election of directors (annual meeting or special meeting called for such purpose)
(h) Unfinished business
(i) New business
(j) Adjournment

2.12 Majority Vote. Except as otherwise provided by the Washington Nonprofit Corporation 
Act, the Vista Field Declaration, the Act, or by these Bylaws, passage of any matter submitted to 
vote at a meeting of the Owners where a quorum is present, shall require the affirmative vote of 
at least 51% of the votes present. 

2.13 Meetings by Conference. Meetings may be conducted by telephone, video, or other 
conferencing process, so long as the meeting notice, procedures and process are consistent with 
the Act. 

2.14 Adjournment of Meetings. To the extent permitted by the Act and the Washington 
Nonprofit Corporation Act, if any meeting of Owners cannot be organized because a quorum has 

3 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



not attended, the Owners present, in person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting to a time not 
less than 48 hours from the time the original meeting was called. 

2.15 Rules. Except where in conflict with the Vista Field Declaration, these Bylaws or the Act, 
Roberts Rules of Order (as amended) shall govern the conduct of all membership meetings. To 
the extent required by the Act, Owners shall be given a reasonable opportunity at any meeting to 
comment on any matter affecting the Condominium or the Association.  

III. Board of Directors

3.1 Decision Making and Powers. Except for those matters described in the Vista Field 
Declaration requiring a vote or consent of the Owners or consent of the Founder, the Board of 
Directors makes all decisions necessary for the management and operation of the property under 
the Vista Field Declaration including causing the Association to take all actions required by the 
Act. The Board of Directors have all powers necessary to act on behalf of and to assume all powers 
of the Association as set forth in the Act, the Vista Field Declaration and these Bylaws and may do 
all such acts and things as are not prohibited by the Act or by the Vista Field Declaration required 
to be done in another manner. The Board of Directors may delegate any specific powers to any 
officer or managing agent or impose such limitations or restrictions upon the powers of any officer 
or managing agent as the Board of Directors may deem necessary. 

3.2 Standard of Care. Directors of the Board of Directors shall perform their duties in 
accordance with the standard of care set forth in the Act as it may be amended from time to time.  

3.3 Transition. The Transition Date occurs upon the first to occur of the following: (a) 
expiration of the period of declarant control as provided under Section 64.90.415 of the Act, (b) 
the end of the Development Period as defined in the Vista Field Declaration, or (c) Founder’s 
voluntary surrender of Declarant Rights.  

3.4 Election or appointment of Directors. The Board of Directors shall be appointed or 
elected as follows: 

(a) Initial Board. The Founder shall appoint three Directors. Directors appointed by the
Founder shall serve at the Founder’s pleasure and may be removed by the Founder and
a substitute appointed by the Founder.

(b) Addition of Owner-Elected Directors. The Act provides for Owners other than the
Founder or a Founder affiliate to elect a portion of the Board upon certain events as
provided in the Act. As set forth in the set forth in Section 64.90.415 of the Act:

(i) not later than sixty (60) days after conveyance of twenty-five percent (25%) of the
Parcels to Owners other than a Founder or Founder Affiliate, twenty-five percent
(25%) of the Board must be elected by Owners other than the Founder or Founder
Affiliate; and

(ii) not later than sixty days after conveyance of fifty percent (50%) of units that may
be created within the Common Interest Community to Owners other than Founder
or Founder Affiliate, not less than thirty three and one third percent (33.33%) of the
Board must be elected by Owners other than Founder or Founder Affiliate.

The existing Board may increase the number of Directors on the Board to accommodate 
the additional Directors. Until such directors are elected and take office, the existing 
directors may continue to act on behalf of the Association. 

4 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



(c) After Transition. Within thirty days of the Transition Date, the Board shall schedule
a transition meeting and provide notice to the Owners pursuant to the Act. Upon the
transition, the Board of Directors shall be comprised of nine (9) directors as follows:

(i) one third of the directors being elected by the Owners of the Residential Parcels (the
“Residential Directors”),

(ii) one third of the directors being elected by the Owners of the Commercial Parcels
(the “Commercial Directors”) and

(iii) one-third being elected at large.

After Transition, the Board may from time to time, without Amendment of these 
Bylaws, modify the number of Directors from six (6) up to a maximum of fifteen (15), 
so long as the three categories of Directors is preserved. 

3.5 Qualifications. Prior to the Transition Date, the Directors need not be members, it being 
recognized that individuals who operate businesses in Vista Field or who have other interests in 
the successful operation of Vista Field may offer talents and service to the community even though 
such an individual may not be named as the holder of title to a Parcel. Directors are not required 
to be residents of the state. After the Transition Date, at least a majority of the Directors must be 
members. Any of the following may be elected to the Board as a member if the entity is a member: 
any shareholder, officer, director, or employee of a corporation, any partner or employee of a 
partnership, any member or manager of a limited liability company, and any trustee or beneficiary 
of a trust. 

3.6 Term. Directors shall hold office for a term of two years. To permit staggered terms, the 
Board of Directors may establish a procedure for one or more elections in which a director may 
be elected to a one-year term. Directors may be elected for successive terms. 

3.7 No Cumulative Voting. For the election of any directors other than those appointed by 
the Founder, an Owner may cast votes (or partial votes) for as many candidates as there are 
Directors to be elected. An Owner is not required to use all of that Owner’s votes; however, no 
cumulative voting shall be permitted. For example, if there are three seats to be filled, the Owner 
may cast its vote each for one, two or three candidates, but shall not cast more than one vote for 
any particular candidate.  

3.8 Plurality Votes. The candidates receiving the highest number of votes shall be declared 
elected. If there are a large number of candidates, the Board of Directors may in advance of the 
voting determine that a majority or other certain minimum percentage of the votes be required 
for election and provide for run-off elections if such percentage is not achieved. Otherwise, 
Directors may be elected by a plurality; a majority is not required.  

3.9 Removal. 

(a) By Owners. Any director may be removed from office, with or without cause, by at
least a majority vote of the Owners entitled to elect such director, at any duly called
meeting of Owners entitled to elect such director; provided no director appointed by
the Founder may be removed by Owners prior to the Transition Date. A special
Association meeting of the Owners entitled to elect such director to remove such
director or directors from office may be called by Owners entitled to elect such director
or directors representing 10% of the Allocated Interests of the Owner entitled to elect
such director by giving notice of the meeting unless a higher percentage is required by

5 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



the Act. The notice shall state the purpose of the meeting and be given to all Owners 
entitled to elect such director or directors in writing at least one week prior to the 
Association meeting.  

(b) By Board. The Board may, without a vote of Owners, remove from the board any
director or officer elected by the Owners if (a) the director or officer is delinquent in the
payment of assessments more than sixty (60) days and (b) the director or officer has
not cured the delinquency within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice of the Board’s
intent to remove the director or officer.

3.10 Vacancy. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors other than at the time of 
election may be filled as follows:  

(a) Directors Appointed by Founder. The Founder may replace at any time any
directors appointed by the Founder regardless of the reason for the vacancy.

(b) Commercial Directors. Any vacancy occurring in the Commercial Directors may be
filled by a majority vote of the remaining Commercial Directors even if there are not
sufficient remaining Commercial Directors to constitute a quorum, except that a
vacancy resulting from removal of a Commercial Director by the Owners shall be filled
by a vote of the Owners of the Commercial Parcels;

(c) Residential Directors. Any vacancy occurring in the Residential Directors may be
filled by a majority vote of the remaining Residential Directors even if there are not
sufficient remaining Residential Directors to constitute a quorum, except that a
vacancy resulting from removal of a Residential Director by the Owners shall be filled
by a vote of the Owners of the Residential Parcels.

(d) At-Large Directors. Any vacancy occurring among the Directors selected at-large
shall be may be filled by a majority vote of all remaining Directors even if there are not
sufficient remaining Directors to constitute a quorum, except that a vacancy resulting
from removal of an At-Large Director by the Owners shall be filled by a vote of the
Owners.

A director filling a vacancy shall serve the unexpired term. 

3.11 Compensation. Directors elected by the Owners shall receive no compensation for their 
services. Directors appointed by the Founder may be compensated by the Founder but not by the 
Association. Directors may be reimbursed by the Association for expenses relating to the 
fulfillment of their duties. 

3.12 Indemnification. The Association shall indemnify any director, or former director in 
the manner and to the maximum extent permitted under the Act and the Washington Nonprofit 
Corporation Act. 

IV. Officers

4.1 President. The President, who shall be elected by the Board of Directors, shall preside 
over the meetings of the Board of Directors and of the Association and shall be the chief executive 
officer of the Association. In the recess of the Board of Directors, the President shall have general 
control and management of the business and affairs of the Association. 

6 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



4.2 Additional Officers. Subject to the provisions of the Vista Field Declaration and 
Articles, at each annual meeting of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors shall elect the 
following officers of the Association: 

(a) One or more Vice Presidents, who shall, in the absence or disability of the
President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President, and shall
perform other such duties as prescribed by the Board of Directors;

(b) A Secretary, who shall keep the minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors and
of the membership and who shall perform all the duties generally incident to the office
of Secretary;

(c) A Treasurer, who shall cause to be kept the financial records and books of account of
the Association, and shall be responsible for Association funds and securities (if any);
and

(d) Such additional officers as the Board of Directors shall see fit to elect.

An individual may hold more than one position as permitted by applicable law.  

4.3 Powers. The officers shall have the general powers usually vested in such officers of a 
nonprofit corporation and all powers designated under the Act and by these Bylaws, provided that 
the Board of Directors may delegate any specific powers to any other officer or impose such 
limitations or restrictions upon the powers of any officer as the Board of Directors may deem 
necessary. 

4.4 Qualifications. The Officers need not be Owners or directors of the Association. 

4.5 Term. Each officer shall hold office for the term of one year and until a successor shall 
have been elected and qualified. 

4.6 Vacancy. The Board of Directors may fill any vacancies in any office. Any officer may be 
removed at any time, with or without cause, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the whole 
Board of Directors. 

4.7 Compensation. Officers shall receive such compensation as determined by the directors. 
Officers may be reimbursed by the Association for expenses relating to the fulfillment of their 
duties. 

4.8 Indemnification. The Association shall indemnify any officer, or former officer in the 
manner and to the maximum extent permitted under the Act and the Washington Nonprofit 
Corporation Act. 

V. Board Meetings

5.1 Meetings. The Board must meet at least four (4) times per year. At least one of those 
meetings must be held within the Common Interest Community or at a place convenient to the 
Common Interest Community. After the Transition Date, the Board must meet at least four (4) 
times per year times per year within the Common Interest Community or at a place convenient to 
the Common Interest Community. 

5.2 Notice. Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held upon call by the President or a 
majority of the Board of Directors on not less than fourteen (14) days’ notice to each Director and 
each Owner, unless the Board of Directors determines an emergency to exist, in which event the 
Board of Directors shall give such notice as is reasonable under the circumstances. Except under 

7 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



emergency conditions, all meetings shall be held in Benton County. Notice should specify the 
business to be transacted, and the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board but 
failure to do so shall not invalidate the notice. If any materials are distributed to the Board before 
a meeting, the Board must make copies of those materials reasonably available to the Owners, 
except the Board need not make available copies of unapproved minutes or materials to be 
considered in executive session (as provided in Section 5.7 below).  

5.3 Waiver. To the extent permitted by the Act and the Washington Nonprofit Corporation 
Act, any director may waive notice of a meeting or consent to the holding of a meeting without 
notice or consent to any action of the Board of Directors without a meeting. Such waiver or 
consent may be executed prior to, at, or subsequent to the meeting or Board of Directors action 
to which the waiver or consent relates. To the extent permitted by the Act and the Washington 
Nonprofit Corporation Act, attendance of a director or a committee member at a meeting shall 
constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a director or a committee member 
attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because 
the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. 

5.4 Percentage Required for Quorum. A quorum shall be a majority of the directors. 

5.5 Majority Vote. Each director shall have one (1) vote. Except as otherwise provided by 
the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act, the Vista Field Declaration, the Act, or by these 
Bylaws, passage of any matter submitted to vote of the Board of Directors at a meeting where a 
quorum is present, shall require the affirmative vote of at least 51% of the votes present. 

5.6 Owners. The Board of Directors may provide for posting of Board meetings on a website 
or similar means easily accessible by all Owners.  

5.7 Open Meetings; Executive Sessions. Meetings of the Board (which shall include any 
committee authorized to act for the Board) must be open to the Owners except during executive 
sessions as provided in the Act, but the Board may expel or prohibit attendance by any person 
who, after warning by the chair of the meeting, disrupts the meeting. At the meeting, the Board 
must provide a reasonable opportunity for Owners to comment on matters affecting the Common 
Interest Community or the Association. The Board may hold executive sessions only as provided 
in the Act. A final vote or action may not be taken during an executive session. An executive 
session may be held only as permitted under the Act. 

5.8  Meeting by Conference. The Board may meet by participation of all board members by 
telephonic, video, or other conferencing process so long as the meeting notice, procedures and 
process are consistent with the Act. 

5.9  Action by Directors Without a Meeting. Instead of a meeting, the Board may act by 
unanimous consent as documented in a record by all of the directors, provide, after the Transition 
Date, the Board may act by unanimous consent only to undertake ministerial actions, actions 
subject to ratification by the Owners, or to implement actions previously taken at a meeting of the 
Board. 

VI. Committees

6.1 Appointment. Prior to the Transition Date, the Founder may appoint the Town 
Architect, committees, or other representatives pursuant to its Special Declarant Rights as set 
forth in Sections 1.5.3 and Part VII of the Vista Field Declaration to review all construction and 
modification during the Development Period. After the Transition Date, the Board may by 

8 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



resolution designate and appoint one or more committees each of which shall consist of two or 
more directors who have exclusive voting power for that committee, including an Architectural 
Review Committee as set forth in Section 7.3.1(c) of the Vista Field Declaration. 

6.2 Powers. The Founder’s representative(s) and/or committee, and any committee 
appointed after the expiration of the Transition Date may make recommendations to the Board 
or, to the extent provided in the Vista Field Declaration or provided in the resolution creating such 
committee, shall have and exercise the authority of the Board in the management of any 
designated aspects of the corporation (by resolution). The power of any committee shall be limited 
as provided by the Act and shall not operate to relieve the Board or any individual Director of any 
responsibility imposed by law. 

VII. Records

7.1 Accounting and Auditing. The Board of Directors shall cause the Association to 
prepare a financial statement of the Association each year in accordance with accrual based 
accounting practices and applicable law. Once the annual assessments of the Association exceed 
$50,000, the financial statements of the Association must be audited at least annually by a 
Certified Public Accountant. If the annual assessments are less than $50,000, the annual audit 
requirement may be waived by the Owners holding a majority of the votes (other than the 
Founder). After the first sale of a Parcel by the Founder, these accounting records shall include a 
record of receipts and expenditures and a separate account for each Owner showing the 
assessments charged to and paid by such Owner. After the first sale of a Parcel by the Founder, 
within ninety (90) days after the end of each year covered by an annual budget, the Board of 
Directors shall cause to be furnished to each Owner a statement for such year showing the receipts 
and expenditures and such other information as the Board of Directors may deem desirable. Upon 
reasonable notice to the Board of Directors and payment of any fee established by the Board of 
Director from time to time, any Owner shall be furnished a statement of the account setting forth 
the amount of any unpaid assessments or other charges due and owing from such Owner. 

7.2 Meetings. The Board of Directors shall keep a record of all meetings, both of the Board 
of Directors and of the Association. For each action taken, the record shall state the vote and a 
description of the action approved or disapproved, and may, where desired by the Board, the 
reasons why the action was considered necessary and a summary of the information on which the 
decision was based. The record shall be available for inspection by any Owner. 

7.3 Other Records. The Association shall retain all other records specified in the Act. All 
such records required to be retained by an Association by the Act or otherwise under the law must 
be made available for examination and copying by any Owner, holders of mortgages on the 
Parcels, and their respective authorized agents, unless agreed otherwise, during reasonable 
business hours or at a mutually convenient time and location, and at the offices of the Association 
or its managing agent. 

7.4 Confidential Records. Notwithstanding the foregoing, records retained by the 
Association may be withheld from inspection and copying to the extent that they concern the 
following or as otherwise permitted by the Act or applicable law: 

(a) Personnel and medical records relating to specific individuals;

(b) Contracts, leases, and other commercial transactions to purchase or provide goods or
services currently being negotiated; 

9 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



(c) Existing or potential litigation or mediation, arbitration, or administrative
proceedings; 

(d) Existing or potential matters involving federal, state, or local administrative or other
formal proceedings before a governmental tribunal for enforcement of the governing documents; 

(e) Legal advice or communications that are otherwise protected by the attorney-client
privilege or the attorney work product doctrine, including communications with the managing 
agent or other agent of the association; 

(f) Information the disclosure of which would violate a court order or law;

(g) Records of an executive session of the Board;

(h) Individual Unit files other than those of the requesting Owner;

(i) Unlisted telephone number or electronic address of any Owner or resident;

(j) Security access information provided to the Association for emergency purposes; or

(k) Agreements that for good cause prohibit disclosure to the members.

VIII. Handling of Funds

8.1  Accounts. The Association shall establish the funds or accounts required by the Act. 
Overall superintendence of these funds shall be the responsibility of the Treasurer. The funds of 
the Association shall not be commingled with that of the Commercial Association or any other 
association or with the funds of any managing agent of the Association or any other person, or be 
kept in any trust account or custodial account in the name of any trustee or custodian. 

8.2 Loans. No loans shall be made by the Association to its directors or officers. The directors 
of the Association who vote for or assent to the making of a loan to a director or officer shall be 
jointly and severally liable to the Association for the amount of such loan until the repayment 
thereof. 

IX. Dispute Resolution

To the extent permitted by the Act, in the event a deadlock on a matter requiring Board action or 
any dispute between Board members that cannot be resolved, upon the exhaustion of good faith 
efforts by the parties to resolve the dispute over a period of at least fifteen (15) days, either party 
to the dispute (“Party”) may request the appointment of third party advisor (the "Advisor") to 
propose a resolution to the Parties of the matter in dispute as provided below. The Parties shall 
mutually select and appoint the Advisor. If they are unable to agree upon the selection of the 
Advisor, then the selection shall be made by the Presiding Judge of the Superior Court of Benton 
County upon the petition of any Party. The Advisor shall be a property manager with at least ten 
years’ experience in condominium property management or a lawyer with at least ten years’ 
experience in condominium law, who has no bias or partiality toward any Owner or Board 
member and is not an affiliate, employee, director, officer, official, partner, trustee, employee, or 
attorney of an Owner. To facilitate a resolution of the dispute, the Advisor initially shall present a 
non-binding advisory recommendation to the Parties to the dispute at a meeting called by the 
Board. At the meeting, the Parties shall review the recommendation from the Advisor, 
information submitted by the Parties and such additional information that the Advisor considers 
relevant to the issue. Following presentation of the Advisor's recommendation, the Parties shall 
determine whether they can resolve the dispute by agreement. To the extent permitted by the Act, 

10 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



if the Parties cannot resolve the dispute by agreement, then upon the request of either Party, the 
Parties shall submit the dispute to binding arbitration by an arbitrator selected by agreement of 
the Parties; provided that if the Parties cannot agree on an arbitrator, the arbitrator shall be 
Judicial and Arbitration Mediation Service (JAMS). The arbitration shall be conducted in 
accordance with such lawful and reasonable practices and procedures as the arbitrator may 
approve, and the decision of the arbitrator following such arbitration shall be in writing delivered 
to all Parties and the Board, and shall be binding upon the Parties and not subject to appeal. 

X. Amendment

The Bylaws may be altered, amended, modified or repealed by (a) two-thirds of the Directors, or 
(b) assent in writing of members representing a majority of the voting interests, provided,
however, that rights reserved to the Founder cannot be modified without the Founder’s consent.

XI. Interpretation

Operation of the Association shall at all times comply with the Act and the Washington Nonprofit 
Corporation Act, and any provision in conflict the Bylaws shall be deemed rewritten to comply. In 
the event of a conflict among the Act, Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act Bylaws, Articles, or 
Vista Field Declaration, the Act shall control, followed by the Washington Nonprofit Corporation 
Act, the Vista Field Declaration, the Articles, and then these Bylaws. 

These Bylaws were adopted by the Board of Directors on ___________________, 
20_______.  

President:  ________________________________ 

Vice President: ____________________________  

Secretary: ________________________________

Treasurer: _______________________________ 

11 Vista Field By-Laws 11.02.2023



BY-LAWS 
for 

VISTA FIELD COMMERCIAL ASSOCIATION, 
a Washington Nonprofit Corporation 

Introduction 

The Vista Field Commercial Association (the “Commercial Association”) is organized as a 
nonprofit corporation under Chapter 24.03, RCW (the “Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act”). 
These Bylaws were written to comply with that chapter at the time the Commercial Association 
was formed. However, those laws may change, and the Commercial Association is required to 
comply with changes to the law.  

The Commercial Association is created primarily to manage and maintain certain property in 
accordance with the Vista Field Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for 
Commercial Property (the “Commercial Declaration”), as recorded in the public records of Benton 
County, Washington. Membership in the Commercial Association is limited to owners of 
Commercial Private Property (as defined in the Commercial Declaration) within the community 
known as Vista Field, which is established by the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and 
Restrictions for Vista Field (the “Vista Field Declaration”), also as recorded in the public records 
of Benton County, Washington.  

The articles of incorporation forming the Commercial Association and these bylaws are not 
required to be recorded. 

Unless otherwise defined in these Bylaws, all capitalized terms are as defined in the Commercial 
Declaration, and if not in the Commercial Declaration, in the Vista Field Declaration. 

I. Membership

1.1  Members. As provided in Section 2.1 of the Commercial Declaration, membership is 
comprised of each of the Owners of the Commercial Parcels and, with respect to the portions used 
for non-Residential uses, each of the Owners of the Mixed-Use Parcels. An individual, domestic 
or foreign profit or nonprofit corporation, a general or limited partnership, an association or other 
entity may be a member of the Commercial Association. 

1.2 Classes of Membership. The membership shall initially consist of two classes: 

(a) The Founder Class, which shall comprise the Founder, its successor and assigns.
Founder Class Rights means all rights of the Founder Class under these Bylaws. The
Founder’s Class shall terminate at the end of the Development Period as defined in the
Vista Field Declaration. However, Founder may terminate some or all of its Founder Class
Rights sooner by a signed writing, in which case the Founder reserves the right to record
an instrument specifying that, prior to the end of the Development Period, certain actions
of the Commercial Association or Board must be approved by the Founder before they
become effective. Termination of any Founder Class Rights affects only its rights within
the Commercial Association under these Bylaws and shall not affect any of its other
reserved rights in the Vista Field Declaration or Commercial Declaration.

1 Vista Field Commercial By-Laws 11.02.2023



(b) The General Class, which shall comprise all other Owners of Parcels subject to the
Commercial Declaration.

Upon termination of the Founder’s Class, there shall be a single class and the Founder’s 
membership rights shall be the same as any other Owner in accordance with Parcels then owned 
by the Founder.  

1.3 Transfer of Membership with Parcel. Upon the sale, transfer or other disposition of 
the ownership interest in a Parcel, the owner’s membership in the Commercial Association shall 
automatically be transferred to the new Parcel owner. The Founder may assign its rights in whole 
or in part at any time as provided in the Vista Field Declaration.  

II. Voting, Notices and Membership Meetings

2.1 Voting by Multiple Owners. If only one of the multiple Owners of a Parcel is present 
at a meeting of the Association, the Owner is entitled to cast all the votes allocated to that Parcel. 
If more than one of the multiple Owners are present, the votes allocated to that Parcel may be cast 
only in accordance with the agreement of a majority in interest of the multiple Owners. There is 
majority agreement if any one of the multiple Owners casts the votes allocated to that Parcel 
without protest being made promptly to the person presiding over the meeting by any of the other 
Owners of the Parcel. 

2.2 Voting Representative. Corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, and 
other entities and organizations shall notify the Commercial Association in writing of the natural 
person who shall exercise its vote. An Owner may, by written notice to the Board, designate a 
voting representative for its Parcel. The voting representative need not be an Owner. The 
designation may be revoked at any time by written notice to the Board from a person having an 
ownership interest in the Parcel, or by actual notice to the Board of the death or judicially declared 
incompetence of any person with an ownership interest in the Parcel. This power of designation 
and revocation may be exercised by the guardian of an Owner, the attorney-in-fact of the Owner 
under a durable power of attorney, or the administrators or executors of an Owner’s estate. If no 
designation has been made, or if a designation has been revoked and no new designation has been 
made, the voting representative of the Parcel shall be the group composed of all of its Owners. If 
a Unit is owned by husband and wife and only one of them is at a meeting, the one who is present 
will represent the marital community.  

2.3 Weighted Voting. Section 2.3 of the Commercial Declaration assigns each Commercial 
Parcel and Commercial Portion of a Mixed-Use Parcel an Assigned Value. Each Owner of a 
Commercial Parcel and Commercial portion of a Mixed-Use Parcel shall have a vote in the 
Commercial Association, with votes to be weighted in accordance with Assigned Values. 

2.4 Voting Procedures. It is the intent of these Bylaws to permit electronic voting and other 
secure, convenient forms of voting to the greatest extent permitted by law. This section 
incorporates the provisions of the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act and shall be considered 
automatically updated to conform to the provisions of that chapter as amended from time to time. 

(a) Types of Acceptable Voting. A member may vote in person, by mail, by electronic
transmission, or by proxy in the form of a record executed by the member or a duly
authorized attorney-in-fact, or by any other method permitted by law as designated by
the Board from time to time. No proxy shall be valid after eleven months from the date
of its execution.

(b) Identification of Candidates and Proposals. Whenever proposals or directors or
officers are to be elected by members, the vote may be taken by mail or by electronic

2 Vista Field Commercial By-Laws 11.02.2023



transmission or by any other method permitted by law as designated by the Board from 
time to time if the name of each candidate and the text of each proposal to be voted 
upon are set forth in a record accompanying or contained in the notice of meeting.  

(c) Requirements for Electronic Voting. If the election is conducted by electronic
transmission, the Commercial Association shall designate an address, location, or
system to which the ballot may be electronically transmitted and the ballot shall be
electronically transmitted to the designated address, location, or system, in an executed
electronically transmitted record.

(d) Effect. Members voting by mail or electronic transmission are present for all purposes
of quorum, count of votes, and percentages of total voting power present.

2.5 Annual Meeting. The Commercial Association shall hold an annual meeting of its 
membership within Vista Field or at another appropriate and convenient place in the state of 
Washington. The Board of Directors shall determine the place and time of the annual meeting, 
which shall ordinarily be at least 11 months but no later than 13 months since the previous annual 
meeting. At the annual meeting, the Owners shall elect members to the Board or fill vacancies (as 
appropriate, per the term limits of the Board as set forth below), and transact other business of 
the Commercial Association. 

2.6 Special Meetings. Unless specifically provided otherwise in these Bylaws or in the 
Commercial Declaration, meetings of the membership other than the annual meeting shall be held 
when directed by the President or the Board of Directors or when requested in writing by members 
holding ten percent (10%) of the votes having the right to vote at such meeting.  

2.7 Notice. Notice of all members’ meetings, regular or special, shall be given at the direction 
of the President or Secretary to each member, either by electronic transmission or by tangible 
notice such as mail or personal delivery or by any other method permitted by law as designated 
by the Board from time to time. Notice shall comply with the requirements of Section 24.03.080, 
RCW for notice of members’ meetings. 

2.8 Waiver. Any Owner may waive notice of a meeting or consent to the holding of a meeting 
without notice or consent to action taken without a meeting, by execution of a waiver or consent 
in writing. Such waiver or consent may be executed prior to, at, or subsequent to the meeting or 
Association action to which the waiver or consent relates.  

2.9 Percentage Required for Quorum. The Board of Directors may revise the percentage 
for a quorum from time to time, but in no event shall the required percentage be less than 10% or 
more than 50% of the Assigned Values.  

2.10 Majority Vote. Except as otherwise provided by the Washington Nonprofit Corporations 
Act, the Commercial Declaration, or by these Bylaws, passage of any matter submitted to vote at 
a meeting where a quorum is present, shall require the affirmative vote of at least 51% of the votes 
present. 

2.11 Proxies. Proxies shall be in writing and are revocable at any time at the pleasure of the 
member executing it by written notice to the Association. A proxy shall be valid only for the 
particular meeting designated and any lawfully adjourned meetings thereof (but in no event shall 
a proxy be valid for more than eleven months after the date of the first meeting for which it was 
given). All proxies must be filed with the Secretary before the appointed time of the meeting. 

2.12 Electronic Participation. Members and any committee of members of the corporation 
may participate in a meeting by conference telephone, video call or similar communications 
equipment so that all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time 

3 Vista Field Commercial By-Laws 11.02.2023



or by any other method permitted by law as designated by the Board from time to time. 
Participation by that method constitutes presence in person at a meeting. 

2.13 Action by Members Without a Meeting. Any action required or permitted to be taken 
at a meeting of the members may be taken without a meeting if a written consent setting forth the 
action to be taken (in the form of a record) is signed by all of the members entitled to vote with 
respect to the subject matter thereof. Any such written consent shall be inserted in the minute 
book as if it were the minutes of a meeting of the Association. 

2.14 Rules. Except where in conflict with the Commercial Declaration or these Bylaws or the 
Washington Nonprofit Corporations Act, Roberts Rules of Order (as amended) shall govern the 
conduct of all membership meetings. 

III. Board of Directors

3.1 Decision Making. Except for those matters described in the Commercial Declaration 
requiring a vote or consent of the Owners or consent of the Founder, the Board of Directors makes 
all decisions necessary for the management and operation of the property under the Commercial 
Declaration and shall have all powers necessary to act on behalf of and to assume all powers of 
the Commercial Association. 

3.2 Standard of Care. Directors of the Board of Directors shall perform their duties in 
accordance with the standard of care set forth in RCW 24.03.127 as it may be amended from time 
to time.  

3.3 Number of Directors. The Board of Directors shall initially comprise three directors 
selected by the Founder. Prior to termination of the Founder Class as provided in Section 1.2(a), 
the board shall comprise between one and seven directors. After termination of the Founder Class 
as provided in Section 1.2(a), the board may comprise any number of directors between five and 
15. At least three months prior to the election, the Board of Directors may, by majority vote,
modify the number of Directors from its then-current composition within the permitted range,
with any newly created seats to be filled at the election. No reduction in seats shall shorten the
term of an existing Director without the consent of that Director.

3.4 Election or appointment of Directors. The Board of Directors shall be appointed or 
elected as follows: 

(a) Initial Composition. As a Founder Class Right, the Founder shall appoint the initial
Directors and may continue to select the Directors until termination of the Founder
Class as provided in Section 1.2(a). Such Directors serve at the Founder’s pleasure and
may be removed by the Founder and a substitute selected.

(b) After Termination of the Founder Class. When the Founder Class has terminated
as provided in Section 1.2(a), the Board shall be elected by the entire membership in
accordance with Assigned Values and the procedures set forth below, including those
held by the Founder.

(c) Designated Seats. These bylaws may be amended as provided in Part IX of these
Bylaws to designate certain seats on the Board to reasonably represent various types of
Commercial Property in Vista Field and to be voted on by Members who are the owners 
of such types of property. Such representation may be combined with a certain number
of seats to be elected at large.

3.5 Qualifications. Directors are not required to be members, it being recognized that 
individuals who operate businesses in Vista Field or who have other interests in the successful 

4 Vista Field Commercial By-Laws 11.02.2023



operation of Vista Field may offer talents and service to the community even though such an 
individual may not be named as the holder of title to a Parcel. Directors are not required to be 
residents of the state. 

3.6 Term. Directors shall hold office for a term of two years. To permit staggered terms, the 
Board of Directors may establish a procedure for one or more elections in which a director may 
be elected to a one-year term. Directors may be elected for successive terms. 

3.7 No Cumulative Voting. For the election of any directors other than those appointed by 
the Founder, an Owner may vote for as many candidates as there are Directors to be elected. An 
Owner is not required to use all of that Owner’s votes; however, no cumulative voting shall be 
permitted. For example, if there are three seats to be filled, the Owner may cast its vote for one, 
two or three candidates, but shall not cast more than one vote for any particular candidate.  

3.8 Plurality Votes. The candidates receiving the highest number of votes shall be declared 
elected. If there are a large number of candidates, the Board of Directors may in advance of the 
voting determine that a majority or other certain minimum percentage of the votes be required 
for election and provide for run-off elections if such percentage is not achieved. Otherwise, 
Directors may be elected by a plurality; a majority is not required.  

3.9 Removal. Except for directors selected by the Founder, any director may be removed 
from office, with or without cause, by at least a majority vote of all Owners, at any duly called 
meeting of Owners. A special Association meeting to remove a director or directors from office 
may be called by Owners representing 10% of the Assigned Values giving notice of the meeting 
unless a lower percentage is permitted by law. The notice shall state the purpose of the meeting 
and be given to all Owners in writing at least one week prior to the Commercial Association 
meeting. Directors selected by the Founder may only be removed by the Founder. 

3.10 Vacancy. After termination of the Founder Class, any vacancy occurring in the Board of 
Directors may be filled by a majority vote of the remaining Board of Directors members even if 
there are not sufficient remaining Board of Directors members to constitute a quorum, except that 
a vacancy resulting from removal of a director by the Owners shall be filled by a vote of the 
membership. Prior to termination of the Founder Class, the Founder may replace at any time any 
Board of Directors member selected by the Founder. A director filling a vacancy shall serve the 
unexpired term. 

3.11 Compensation. Directors shall receive no compensation for their services unless 
expressly provided for in resolutions duly adopted by the Owners. Directors appointed by the 
Founder may be compensated by the Founder but not by the Commercial Association. Directors 
may be reimbursed for expenses. 

3.12 Indemnification. The Commercial Association shall indemnify any director or officer, 
or former director or officer in the manner and to the extent provided in RCW 23B.08.500 
through 23B.08.600. 

IV. Officers

4.1 President. The President, who shall be elected by the Board of Directors, shall preside 
over the meetings of the Board of Directors and of the Commercial Association and shall be the 
chief executive officer of the Commercial Association. In the recess of the Board of Directors, the 
President shall have general control and management of the business and affairs of the 
Commercial Association. 

5 Vista Field Commercial By-Laws 11.02.2023



4.2 Additional Officers. Subject to the provisions of the Commercial Declaration and 
Articles, at each annual meeting of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors shall elect the 
following officers of the Commercial Association: 

(a) One or more Vice Presidents, who shall also be directors and who shall, in the
absence or disability of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the
President, and shall perform other such duties as prescribed by the Board of Directors;

(b) A Secretary, who shall keep the minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors and
of the membership and who shall perform all the duties generally incident to the office
of Secretary;

(c) A Treasurer, who shall cause to be kept the financial records and books of account of
the Commercial Association, and shall be responsible for Association funds and
securities (if any); and

(d) Such additional officers as the Board of Directors shall see fit to elect.

An individual may hold more than one position.  

4.3 Powers. The officers shall have the general powers usually vested in such officers of a 
nonprofit corporation, provided that the Board of Directors may delegate any specific powers to 
any other officer or impose such limitations or restrictions upon the powers of any officer as the 
Board of Directors may deem necessary. 

4.4 Term. Each officer shall hold office for the term of one year and until a successor shall 
have been elected and qualified. 

4.5 Vacancy. The Board of Directors may fill any vacancies in any office. Any officer may be 
removed at any time, with or without cause, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the whole 
Board of Directors. 

V. Board Meetings

5.1 Meetings; Notice. Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held upon call by the 
President or a majority of the Board of Directors on not less than two (2) days’ notice to each 
Director, unless the Board of Directors determines an emergency to exist, in which event the 
Board of Directors shall give such notice as is reasonable under the circumstances. If notice of 
regular or special meetings is provided by electronic transmission, it must satisfy the 
requirements of Section 24.03.009, RCW. Except under emergency conditions, all meetings shall 
be held in Benton County. Notice should specify the business to be transacted, and the purpose 
of, any regular or special meeting of the Board but failure to do so shall not invalidate the notice. 

5.2 Waiver. Any director may waive notice of a meeting or consent to the holding of a 
meeting without notice or consent to any action of the Board of Directors without a meeting. Such 
waiver or consent may be executed prior to, at, or subsequent to the meeting or Board of Directors 
action to which the waiver or consent relates. Attendance of a director or a committee member at 
a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a director or a 
committee member attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of 
any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. 

5.3 Participation, Quorum. Directors may participate in a meeting of the Board or any 
committee by means of a conference telephone, video call or any similar communications 
equipment so long as all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time 
or by any other method permitted by law as designated by the Board from time to time. 

6 Vista Field Commercial By-Laws 11.02.2023



Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at a meeting for the purposes of 
a quorum. which shall be set at one-half of the directors. Any action required to be taken by vote 
of the Board of Directors may be taken in the absence of a meeting (or in the absence of a quorum 
at a meeting) if a consent in the form of a record, setting forth the action so taken, is executed by 
all of the directors entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof.  

5.4 Owners. The Board of Directors may provide for posting of Board meetings on a website 
or similar means easily accessible by all Owners. Owners other than Directors shall not be entitled 
to vote or participate in any other way at the Board of Directors meeting unless the Board of 
Directors so permits. 

VI. Committees

6.1 Appointment. The Board may by resolution designate and appoint one or more 
committees each of which shall consist of two or more directors. 

6.2 Powers. The committee may make recommendations to the Board or, to the extent 
provided in such resolution shall have and exercise the authority of the Board in the management 
of the corporation. The power of any committee shall be limited as provided by statute and shall 
not operate to relieve the Board or any individual Director of any responsibility imposed by law. 

VII. Records

7.1 Accounting. The Board of Directors shall maintain accounting records according to 
generally accepted accounting practices and applicable law, which records shall be open to 
inspection by Owners at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice. After the first sale of a 
Parcel by the Founder, these accounting records shall include a record of receipts and 
expenditures and a separate account for each Owner showing the assessments charged to and paid 
by such Owner. After the first sale of a Parcel by the Founder, within ninety (90) days after the 
end of each year covered by an annual budget, the Board of Directors shall cause to be furnished 
to each Owner a statement for such year showing the receipts and expenditures and such other 
information as the Board of Directors may deem desirable. Upon reasonable notice to the Board 
of Directors and payment of any fee established by the Board of Director from time to time, any 
owner shall be furnished a statement of the account setting forth the amount of any unpaid 
assessments or other charges due and owing from him. 

7.2 Meetings. The Board of Directors shall keep a record of all meetings, both of the Board 
of Directors and of the Commercial Association. For each action taken, the record shall state the 
vote and a description of the action approved or disapproved, and may, where desired by the 
Board, the reasons why the action was considered necessary and a summary of the information 
on which the decision was based. The record shall be available for inspection by any Owner.  

VIII. Handling of Funds

8.1  Accounts. The Commercial Association shall establish the necessary funds or accounts 
to provide properly for the operation and maintenance of the Parcels subject to the Commercial 
Declaration. Overall superintendence of these funds shall be the responsibility of the Treasurer.  

8.2 Loans. No loans shall be made by the Commercial Association to its directors or officers. 
The directors of the Commercial Association who vote for or assent to the making of a loan to a 
director or officer shall be jointly and severally liable to the Commercial Association for the 
amount of such loan until the repayment thereof. 

7 Vista Field Commercial By-Laws 11.02.2023



IX. Amendment

The Bylaws may be altered, amended, modified or repealed by (a) two-thirds of the Directors, or 
(b) assent in writing of members representing a majority of the voting interests, provided,
however, that rights reserved to the Founder cannot be modified without the Founder’s consent.

X. Interpretation

Operation of the Commercial Association shall at all times comply with the laws for nonprofit 
corporations under the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act, and any provision in conflict the 
Bylaws shall be deemed rewritten to comply. In the event of a conflict among the Bylaws, Articles 
or Commercial Declaration, the Commercial Declaration shall control, followed by the Articles 
and then Bylaws. 

These Bylaws were adopted by the Board of Directors on ___________________, 
20_______.  

President:  ________________________________ 

Vice President: ____________________________  

Secretary: ________________________________ 

Treasurer: ________________________________

8 Vista Field Commercial By-Laws 11.02.2023



2024 Properties Assessment - Allocated Interest 

Vista Field Association 
November 2, 2023 

Type of Development  = 1 Allocated Interest 
Residential  $650 
Smaller residential or some multi-
family (.8 of allocated interest) 

$520 

Commercial Based on square footage, where 1,000 
square feet = 1 allocated interest or $650 

Mixed Use Based on combination of above, specific 
to each development 

1 Vista Field Assessment 11.02.2023



2024 BUDGET 

Vista Field Association 
November 2, 2023 

 Cost Category Dollars $ 
Landscape  43,500 
Vegetation Treatment  4,334 
Pest Control  800 
Water Feature  43,000 
Snow Plowing    2,000 
Street Sweeping    3,600 
Catch Basin Cleaning    3,200 
EV Stations    2,000 
Asphalt    4,000 
Lighting maintenance    6,000 
Signage - Events    2,500 
Power Usage    2,000 
Water Usage  36,000 
Site Furnishings  15,000 
Night patrol contract    5,400 
Management/Admin Contract  58,600 
Janitorial 11,400 
Garbage Control  23,500 
Grafitti Abatement 1,200 
Equipment 7,500 
Capital Reserve Fund    5,000 
Maintenance Labor Contract 35,000 

Subtotal  315,535 

Contingency (20%)   63,107 

TOTAL  $ 378,642 

2 Vista Field 2024 Budget 11.02.2023



Frequently Asked Questions 

How is Vista Field different? 

Vista Field is a walkable mixed-use community. In addition to nearly 1,000 residential 
households, Vista Field will have parks, restaurants, retail, offices and entertainment.  

Most of the commercial activity will be located in the Vista Field Town Center. While automobiles 
are accommodated with parking spaces and driving lanes, the community is designed so that 
residents can also walk or bike to the Town Center from any part of Vista Field.  

Residents can choose to live either in the Town Center or in residential neighborhoods 
surrounding the Town Center. Additional smaller mixed-use areas in other parts of Vista Field 
may be developed later. 

Who is the developer of Vista Field? 

The Port of Kennewick, an independent governmental agency responsible for economic 
development, owns Vista Field, which is being built on the site of an abandoned airfield. Working 
collaboratively with the City of Kennewick, the Port as master developer initiated and guided the 
design process, obtained the entitlements and made the infrastructure improvements.  

What is the master plan? 

The Master Plan is a conceptual drawing showing the general location of streets, open space 
and buildings, the relationship between commercial and residential property and the 
connections between Vista Field and the surrounding areas of the City of Kennewick. The Master 
Plan is subject to change and will be modified from time to time.  

Are the streets private or public? 

Some streets are owned by the property owners’ association discussed below, while others are 
dedicated to the public. Most parks, squares, plazas and neighborhood streets that are owned 
by the association are open for appropriate use by the public, subject to reasonable regulation. 

1 Vista Field FAQ's 11.02.2023



How is Vista Field being phased? 

The first phase will include part of the Town Center and part of a residential neighborhood. 
Subsequent phases may be added in any order. Although it is the current plan to do so, it is not 
required that all land shown on the Master Plan be developed as part of Vista Field. 

What is the architectural review process? 

Vista Field has Design Standards to establish a visual identity and to carry out the walkability 
features. Plans and specifications for any building must be approved prior to construction, 
including landscaping and exterior building colors. The Town Architect will assist owners and 
their architects during the process of design to help in applying the Design Standards. Any later 
modification during construction or after completion must also be reviewed and approved. 

How does the property owners’ association operate? 

The Vista Field Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (the “Vista Field 
Declaration”) establishes the Vista Field Association, which is responsible for maintaining 
common areas shared by the entire community. All owners of property, both residential and 
commercial, will be voting members of the Vista Field Association (the “Association”). 

The Vista Field Declaration is written to comply with the Washington Uniform Common Interest 
Ownership Act (WUCIOA), a law enacted in 2018 that regulates residential and mixed-use 
owners’ associations. The Port—known in the documents as the Founder—reserves the right to 
elect a majority of the board of directors of the Vista Field Association to the greatest extent 
permitted by the WUCIOA. 

How are assessments determined? 

Each parcel of property in Vista Field, residential and commercial, is assigned an Allocated 
Interest.  

• Residential Property: Most individual dwelling units are assigned one Allocated Interest,
although small units and some multi-family dwellings will be assigned 0.8 Allocated
Interest per dwelling unit.

• Commercial Property: Commercial parcels are assigned Allocated Interests based on
square footage, with 1,000 square feet being equal to one Allocated Interest.

• Mixed-Use Parcels: Live/work units and other mixed-use parcels are assigned an
Allocated Interest based on both the dwelling units and the commercial portion.

The Association’s budget, including maintenance of streets, parks and the water feature, as well 
as general management and other expenses, is divided among all properties based on Allocated 
Interests. It is estimated that parcels in the initial phase will pay assessments of $650 per year 
per Allocated Interest. Assessments will be adjusted annually based on the budget. 

Are there additional requirements for commercial property? 

A separate document, the Vista Field Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for 
Commercial Property (the “Commercial Declaration”) applies only to commercial property 
(including the commercial portions of mixed-use property) within Vista Field. The property 

2 Vista Field FAQ's 11.02.2023



owners’ association formed under the Commercial Declaration (the “Commercial Association”) 
is responsible for maintenance of shared spaces that mostly serve commercial property. It also 
regulates and promotes businesses within Vista Field.  

Owners of commercial parcels and mixed-use parcels will be members of both the Vista Field 
Association and the Commercial Association and will pay assessments to both. Assessments to 
the Commercial Association are determined based on the value of the commercial portion of the 
parcel as appraised by the Benton County Tax Assessor. 

Owners of residential property are not members of the Commercial Association and are not 
affected by the Commercial Declaration.  

Does the Vista Field Declaration restrict leasing? Resale? Pets? 

Parcels may be rented, subject to reasonable rules and regulations as adopted by the Association 
from time to time. Parcels may be resold without restriction, subject to the Vista Field 
Declaration. 

Pets are allowed consistent with City zoning and the Vista Field Association’s rules and 
regulations, including rules on noise, odor and safety. Owners may be required to keep pets on 
a leash and collect and dispose of animal waste when walking pets in the community. 

How can I buy and build in Vista Field? 

Builders of commercial, residential and mixed-use properties can find an additional FAQ for 
builders as well as detailed information about the Collaborative Design Process on-line. Private 
individuals seeking to live in Vista Field may contact one of the approved Vista Field residential 
builders for availability.  

This FAQ is summary in nature. Please see the Vista Field Declaration for additional information. 

3 Vista Field FAQ's 11.02.2023


	VFA Bylaws 82721.pdf
	Introduction
	I. Membership
	II. Voting, Notices and Membership Meetings
	2.11 Order of Business. The order of business at meetings of the Association shall be as follows unless dispensed with on motion or as otherwise required by the Act:
	(a) Roll call
	(b) Proof of notice of meeting or waiver of notice
	(c) Minutes of preceding meeting
	(d) Reports of officers
	(e) Reports of committees
	(f) Election of inspectors of election
	(g) Election of directors (annual meeting or special meeting called for such purpose)
	(h) Unfinished business
	(i) New business
	(j) Adjournment

	2.12 Majority Vote. Except as otherwise provided by the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act, the Vista Field Declaration, the Act, or by these Bylaws, passage of any matter submitted to vote at a meeting of the Owners where a quorum is present, shall...

	III. Board of Directors
	IV. Officers
	V. Board Meetings
	5.5 Majority Vote. Each director shall have one (1) vote. Except as otherwise provided by the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act, the Vista Field Declaration, the Act, or by these Bylaws, passage of any matter submitted to vote of the Board of Direc...

	VI. Committees
	VII. Records
	VIII. Handling of Funds
	IX. Dispute Resolution
	X. Amendment
	XI. Interpretation

	Commercial Bylaws 82621.pdf
	Introduction
	I. Membership
	II. Voting, Notices and Membership Meetings
	III. Board of Directors
	IV. Officers
	V. Board Meetings
	VI. Committees
	VII. Records
	VIII. Handling of Funds
	IX. Amendment
	X. Interpretation




